
 

 

 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 

                                                                                

                                          ) 

ANACOSTIA RIVERKEEPER   ) 

515 M Street, S.E., Suite 218                  )                                         

Washington, DC 20003    ) 

       ) 

 and                ) 

       ) 

ANACOSTIA WATERSHED SOCIETY  ) 

The George Washington House   ) 

4302 Baltimore Avenue    ) 

Bladensburg, MD 20710    ) 

       )  

 Plaintiffs,              ) Civil Action No. 

       ) 

  v.                              )      

                                           ) 

WASHINGTON GAS LIGHT COMPANY  ) 

101 Constitution Avenue, N.W.   ) 

Washington, DC 20080    ) 

       ) 

Defendant.                  ) 

                                           ) 

                                           ) 

 

 

 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

 

 

NATURE OF ACTION 

  

1. This citizen suit is brought under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 

1976 (―RCRA‖), 42 U.S.C. §§ 6901 et seq., to abate the imminent and substantial 

endangerment to human health and the environment caused by the gas 

manufacturing and related activities of Defendant Washington Gas Light 

Case 1:11-cv-01453-RMC   Document 1    Filed 08/10/11   Page 1 of 16



2 

 

Company (―Washington Gas‖) at the East Station Site in Southeast, Washington, 

D.C.  RCRA § 7002(a)(1)(B). 

2. Over nearly a century, Washington Gas contaminated the East Station Site and the 

adjoining Anacostia River with byproducts from its gas manufacturing facility, 

including coal tar, which contains toxic carcinogens, and petroleum products.   

3. At issue in this action is the part of the East Station Site managed until 2008 by 

the National Park Service (―NPS‖) and known as the ―NPS Site,‖ roughly located 

south of Water Street S.E. and east of 11
th

 Street S.E., Washington, D.C. 

4. As of the date of this Complaint, Washington Gas has not remediated the NPS 

Site, nor has it remediated the Site-associated contamination in the Anacostia 

River. 

5. Plaintiffs Anacostia Riverkeeper (―ARK‖) and Anacostia Watershed Society 

(―AWS‖) are public interest organizations which are harmed and the members of 

which are harmed by Washington Gas’s contamination of the NPS Site and by its 

failure to abate the resulting imminent and substantial endangerment.  To redress 

these harms, Plaintiffs seek a declaratory judgment, injunctive relief, and civil 

penalties.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

6. This Court has jurisdiction under RCRA § 7002(a)(1)(B) and 28 U.S.C. § 1331.   

7. RCRA § 7002(a)(1)(B) authorizes citizens to bring suit ―against any person . . . 

who has contributed or is contributing to the past or present handling, storage, 

treatment, transportation, or disposal of any solid or hazardous waste which may 

present an imminent and substantial endangerment to health or the environment.‖   
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8. The Court may award declaratory relief under 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-02. 

9. In a letter dated December 10, 2010, Plaintiffs gave notice to Washington Gas, 

under RCRA § 7002(b)(2)(A), that its contamination of the NPS Site and the 

adjoining Anacostia River constitutes an imminent and substantial endangerment.   

Washington Gas received a copy of this letter on December 16, 2010.  A copy of 

the notice letter is attached as Exhibit A and incorporated herein.   

10. Plaintiffs also mailed the notice letter to the Administrator of the U.S. 

Environmental Protection Agency (―EPA‖) and the EPA Region 3 Administrator, 

the United States Attorney General, the District of Columbia Attorney General, 

the Mayor of the District of Columbia, and the Director of the District of 

Columbia Department of the Environment.  Each received notice on or before 

December 16, 2010.   

11.  More than ninety days have passed since Plaintiffs served notice. 

12. Neither the EPA nor the NPS has taken any of the actions described in RCRA § 

7002(b)(2)(B)(i)-(iv) that would otherwise preclude commencement of Plaintiffs’ 

lawsuit.   

13. Neither the EPA nor the NPS has commenced an action under RCRA § 7003 or 

under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability 

Act of 1980 (―CERCLA‖) § 106, 42 U.S.C. § 9606. 

14. Neither the EPA nor the NPS is actually engaging in a removal action under 

CERCLA § 104. 
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15. In 1999, Washington Gas, with input from the EPA, the NPS, and the District of 

Columbia, completed a Remedial Investigation and Feasibility Study for the East 

Station Site — which includes the NPS Site. 

16. Neither the EPA nor the NPS is diligently proceeding with a remedial action 

under CERCLA for the NPS Site.   

17. Neither the EPA nor the NPS has obtained a court order or issued an 

administrative order under CERCLA § 106 or RCRA § 7003. 

18. The District of Columbia has not taken any of the actions described in RCRA § 

7002(b)(2)(C)(i)-(iii) that would otherwise preclude commencement of Plaintiffs’ 

lawsuit.   

19. The District of Columbia has not commenced an action under RCRA § 

7002(a)(1)(B). 

20. The District of Columbia is not actually engaging in a removal action under 

CERCLA § 104. 

21. The District of Columbia is not diligently proceeding with a remedial action under 

CERCLA. 

22. As of the date of this Complaint, Washington Gas has not abated the imminent 

and substantial endangerment to human health and the environment. 

23. Venue is proper under RCRA § 7002(a) because the alleged endangerment 

occurred or may occur in this judicial district.   

24. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) because a substantial part of the 

events or omissions giving rise to Plaintiffs’ claims occurred in this judicial 
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district and the property that is the subject of the action is situated in this judicial 

district. 

PARTIES 

Defendant 

25. Defendant Washington Gas distributes natural gas to customers in the 

Washington, D.C. metropolitan area. 

26. Washington Gas has been a corporation of the District of Columbia since 1957 

and is headquartered at 101 Constitution Avenue, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20080. 

27. Washington Gas previously owned and operated a gas manufacturing plant on the 

East Station Site. 

28.  Hazardous byproducts of Washington Gas’s gas manufacturing activities 

contaminated the East Station Site, including the NPS Site, and the adjoining 

Anacostia River.  

Plaintiffs 

29. Plaintiff ARK is a not-for-profit membership corporation.  ARK is incorporated 

under the laws of the District of Columbia, and its principal place of business is at 

515 M Street, S.E., Suite 218, Washington, D.C. 20003.   

30. ARK is dedicated to advocating for a clean and healthy Anacostia River, 

engaging in efforts to protect and enhance water quality in the river, enforcing 

existing federal and state laws governing the Anacostia watershed, and educating 

the public about issues affecting the Anacostia River.   
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31. Plaintiff AWS is a not-for-profit membership corporation.  AWS is incorporated 

under the laws of the State of Maryland, and its principal place of business is at 

4302 Baltimore Avenue, Bladensburg, MD 20710.   

32. AWS’s mission is to protect and restore the Anacostia River and its watershed 

communities and to teach children and adults about the Anacostia watershed as a 

vital natural and recreational resource.  AWS works to achieve its mission 

through environmental education programming, stewardship activities, and 

advocacy efforts.   

33. ARK and AWS are membership organizations (more than 100 and 600 members, 

respectively) with members and staff residing in the District of Columbia, 

Maryland, Virginia, and other states, many of whom use and enjoy the Anacostia 

watershed, including the area of and around the NPS Site and the adjoining 

Anacostia River, for recreation, wildlife watching, aesthetic enjoyment, 

commuting, and other purposes.   

34. The acts and omissions of Washington Gas alleged in this Complaint cause injury 

to Plaintiffs’ members by making the area of and around the NPS Site and the 

adjoining Anacostia River unsuitable for some or all of the above-listed uses.  The 

physical and emotional well-being as well as recreational, aesthetic, professional, 

and environmental interests of Plaintiffs’ members have been and continue to be 

adversely affected by the acts and omissions of Washington Gas described in this 

Complaint.  Plaintiffs’ members have reasonable concerns that their health, the 

health of their families and friends, and the environment are endangered by 

Washington Gas’s contamination of the NPS Site and the adjoining Anacostia 
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River and by Washington Gas’s failure to abate any endangerment to human 

health or the environment.   

35. Washington Gas’s actions and omissions alleged in this Complaint impair 

Plaintiffs’ interests in promoting recreational use of the Anacostia watershed, 

including the area of and around the NPS Site and the adjoining Anacostia River, 

providing environmental education programming to youth through experiential 

learning, operating revenue-generating boat trips, fundraising, and increasing 

membership. 

36. Washington Gas’s actions and omissions alleged in this Complaint have required 

Plaintiffs to divert scarce advocacy resources toward obtaining remediation of the 

NPS Site and the adjoining Anacostia River through media, political, and 

community advocacy. 

37.  But for Washington Gas’s actions and omissions, Plaintiffs could have used these 

advocacy resources for other priorities, such as smart development within the 

watershed and more stringent stormwater runoff controls under the Clean Water 

Act.   

38. The effectiveness of Plaintiffs’ efforts to promote stewardship of the Anacostia 

watershed through organized trash collection from the river, clean-up of the river 

banks, removal of invasive non-native plants, tree planting, and meadow 

restoration are undermined by Washington Gas’s unremediated contamination of 

the area of and around the NPS Site and by the continuing contamination of the 

adjoining Anacostia River. 
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39. Granting the requested relief would redress the injuries described in this 

Complaint. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

40. The Anacostia River is approximately 8.5 miles long, starting just north of 

Washington, D.C. in Bladensburg, Maryland and flowing through the eastern half 

of the District of Columbia before converging with the Potomac River near 

Buzzard Point.  

41. Approximately 800,000 urban residents live in the Anacostia watershed.  

42. Many Anacostia watershed residents and other members of the public, including 

Plaintiffs’ members, use the watershed for recreation, wildlife watching, aesthetic 

enjoyment, commuting, and other purposes.  

43. The District of Columbia’s Department of the Environment does not consider the 

Anacostia River to be either swimmable or fishable.   

44. River bottom sediment in the Anacostia River is heavily contaminated with toxic 

pollutants.   

45. The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service estimated that two-thirds of the brown 

bullhead catfish in the Anacostia River have cancerous lesions or sores linked to 

toxic sediment. 

46.  The District of Columbia’s Department of the Environment issued a public health 

advisory warning the general public to limit or avoid consumption of certain 

Anacostia River fish because of chemical contaminants found in certain species. 
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47. The East Station Site is 18.8 acres of land located in the lower Anacostia 

watershed and is defined in records of decision as ―the terrestrial area that has 

been impacted by the residuals of gas manufacturing.‖ 

48. Washington Gas owns and manages approximately 11.4 acres of the East Station 

Site. 

49. Prior to 2008, the United States owned roughly 4.5 of the remaining acres, of 

which the NPS managed all but 0.35 acres managed by the Army Corps of 

Engineers. 

50. In 2008, the United States transferred ownership of the NPS-managed land to the 

District of Columbia. 

51. From 1888 to 1948, Washington Gas operated a gas manufacturing plant on the 

East Station Site.  From 1948 to 1983, Washington Gas intermittently used the 

plant.  Washington Gas closed the plant in 1983 and demolished it by 1988. 

52. The residuals of Washington Gas’s gas manufacturing activities include 

hazardous contaminants, such as: oil and coal tar, which contains carcinogenic 

and toxic polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (―PAHs‖); volatile organic 

compounds (―VOCs‖), such as benzene; and toxic heavy metals, including 

arsenic, beryllium, and lead. 

53. Washington Gas’s gas manufacturing and related activities contaminated the East 

Station Site’s surface soil, subsurface soil, groundwater, and the water and 

sediment in the Anacostia River. 

54. Some of the coal tar is at sufficient concentrations to form a separate Dense Non-

Aqueous Phase Liquid or DNAPL that can migrate.  
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55. The NPS Site has multiple uses, including as a staging area for construction 

crews, offices and storage structures, open space, an active pier, public access to 

the river for fishing and non-motorized boating, as well as private vehicle parking 

during business hours.   

56. Until 2009, the Anacostia Community Boathouse was located on the NPS Site.  

Rowers would store their boats on and launch their boats from the NPS Site. 

57. Adjacent to the NPS Site are offices and active boating clubs, including the 

Eastern Power Boat Club and the District Yacht Club.  Rowers and boaters from 

these clubs use the Anacostia River in the area of the NPS Site. 

58. The nearest residences are the row houses along ―L‖ Street, S.E., located 

approximately 1,000 feet north of the NPS Site.  

59. The Anacostia Riverwalk Trail, used by joggers, bikers and walkers, runs along 

Water Street, which bisects the NPS Site. 

60. On September 22, 1999, the EPA issued a Superfund Record of Decision (―1999 

ROD‖) for the East Station Site under CERCLA.   

61. According to the 1999 ROD, from 1983 to 1999, the East Station Site was the 

subject of six major environmental investigations. 

62. The environmental investigations characterized the land and river contamination, 

assessed the human-health and ecological risks, and evaluated the remedial 

alternatives.  

63. Between 1988 and 2005, Washington Gas, the District of Columbia, the NPS, and 

others collectively commissioned at least eight sediment studies in the Anacostia 

River at and near the East Station Site. 
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64. The 1999 ROD’s discussion of human health risks found several human exposure 

scenarios that exceeded threshold risk levels, requiring elimination or 

management of the contamination.  

65. The 1999 ROD determined that the dermal exposure of a juvenile to the 

unremediated surface soil on the NPS Site poses an excess lifetime cancer risk, 

requiring ―elimination of the carcinogens or their management.‖  

66. According to the 1999 ROD, other potential health hazards across the East Station 

Site include the inhalation exposure of a utility worker to subsurface soil and the 

inhalation exposure of an equipment operator to dust.  These present ―a potential 

non-cancerous health risk requiring elimination or management.‖  

67. The 1999 ROD states that the Anacostia River has been contaminated by 

chemicals found on the NPS Site and observes that the District of Columbia 

identified contamination of the river sediment ―as both an environmental and 

human-health concern.‖   

68. The 1999 ROD concluded that ―[a]ctual or threatened release of hazardous 

substances on and from this site, if not addressed by implementing the remedy 

selected in this decision document, may present a potential threat to public health 

or the environment.‖  

69. The 1999 ROD did not study alternatives or select a remedial plan for 

contaminated river sediment in the Anacostia River. 

70. The 1999 ROD directed Washington Gas to continue participating in the EPA’s 

watershed-wide study of sediment contamination in the river. 
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71. The 1999 ROD set out a selected remedy for the entire East Station Site but 

indicated that a separate record of decision would be issued for the NPS Site. 

72. The remedy selected in the 1999 ROD has since been implemented on the 

Washington Gas-owned portion of the East Station Site.  Currently, this portion is 

home to the Maritime Plaza, which consists of office buildings and a surface 

parking lot.  Maritime Plaza is part of a commercial development designed to 

encourage people to spend time outdoors and to facilitate access to the Anacostia 

River. 

73. Part of the remedy selected in the 1999 ROD was for Washington Gas to continue 

to recover accumulated DNAPL and contaminated groundwater for the entire East 

Station Site. 

74. The NPS did not issue a record of decision for the NPS Site until August 2006 

(―2006 ROD‖).   

75. The 2006 ROD concluded that remedial action was ―necessary to protect human 

health and the environment from actual or threatened releases of hazardous 

substances into the environment.‖  

76. The 2006 ROD selected a remedial action for the NPS Site based on the intended 

use of the NPS Site as parkland for recreational use.  The 2006 ROD notes that 

―[t]he many groups using the NPS Site for boating are expected to use it more 

intensively once it is remediated, and the remediation of the NPS Site will attract 

cyclists, joggers, walkers, etc. to Anacostia Park.‖  

77. In addition to relying on the prior six major environmental investigations 

discussed in the 1999 ROD, the 2006 ROD incorporated the results from a 2002 
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investigation that assessed the health risks to utility and landscape workers on the 

NPS Site.  

78. The 2002 investigation indicated that, contrary to prior studies, non-carcinogenic 

risks for utility and landscape workers do not represent an unacceptable risk; 

however, the 2006 ROD acknowledges that because the NPS Site has 

contamination ―hot spots,‖ the human health risks might actually be greater than 

accounted for by the 2002 assessment. 

79. The 2002 investigation also found that carcinogenic risks to utility and landscape 

workers from inhalation exposure to subsurface soil gas and dermal contact with 

subsurface soil present unacceptable risks.    

80. The 2006 ROD stated that a screening-level ecological risk assessment indicated 

that chemicals of potential concern – metals, cyanides, PAHs, and VOCs, among 

others – were found in every medium tested, including surface soil, subsurface 

soil, site water runoff, groundwater, river water, and river sediment.  

81. The 2006 ROD deferred identifying a remedial plan for the river sediment, 

explaining that ―sediment exposures will be addressed separately in the sediment 

remedy that will be based on data gathered by the USEPA and other agencies 

(including existing data as well as the results from the pilot capping studies).‖   

82. As of the date of this filing, the remedy selected in the 2006 ROD has not been 

implemented, even though the outside estimate for implementation was less than a 

year after the NPS issued the 2006 ROD. 

83. There are no signs posted on the NPS Site warning of the dangers of dermal 

contact, inhalation of dust and gas, or fish consumption. 
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CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Washington Gas Has Violated RCRA § 7002(a)(1)(B) by Contributing to the 

Handling, Storage, Treatment, Transportation, and/or Disposal of Solid and 

Hazardous Waste That Presents, or May Present, an Imminent and Substantial 

Endangerment to Health or the Environment. 

 

84. ARK and AWS reallege and incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

85. RCRA § 7002(a)(1)(B) provides a right of action to private citizens ―against any 

person, . . . including any past or present generator, past or present transporter, or 

past or present owner or operator of a treatment, storage, or disposal facility, who 

has contributed or who is contributing to the past or present handling, storage, 

treatment, transportation, or disposal of any solid or hazardous waste which may 

present an imminent and substantial endangerment to health or the environment.‖   

86. Washington Gas is a ―person‖ under RCRA § 1004(15). 

87. The contaminants present at the NPS Site and in the adjoining river bottom 

sediment are hazardous or solid wastes under RCRA §§ 1004(5) and (27). 

88. Washington Gas, through its ownership and operation of the East Station Site gas 

manufacturing plant, has contributed to the past or present handling, storage, 

treatment, transportation, or disposal of solid and hazardous waste at the NPS Site 

and in the adjoining Anacostia River. 

89. Contaminants on the NPS Site exceed threshold human health risk levels. 

90. Pathways exist for the contaminants at the NPS Site and in the adjacent 

Anacostia River to reach humans and the environment. 

91. Washington Gas’s contamination of the NPS Site and adjacent Anacostia River 

may present a substantial and imminent endangerment to health or the 

environment under RCRA § 7002(a)(1)(B). 

Case 1:11-cv-01453-RMC   Document 1    Filed 08/10/11   Page 14 of 16



15 

 

92. Plaintiffs and their members are being harmed and will continue to be harmed by 

the potential endangerment to human health and the environment and by 

Washington Gas’s failure to abate that endangerment, unless the Court grants the 

relief sought in this action. 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

Plaintiffs request that the Court enter a judgment: 

1. Declaring that Washington Gas has contributed and/or is contributing to the past 

and/or present handling, storage, treatment, transportation, and/or disposal of 

solid or hazardous waste containing coal tar and other contaminants that presents 

or may present an imminent and substantial endangerment to human health or the 

environment, in violation of section RCRA § 7002(a)(1)(B). 

2. Ordering Washington Gas to take all such actions as may be necessary to 

eliminate any endangerment. 

3. Imposing civil penalties as authorized by RCRA § 7002(a). 

4. Ordering Washington Gas to pay Plaintiffs’ reasonable attorneys’ fees, expert 

witness fees, and costs incurred in prosecuting this action, as provided for under  

RCRA § 7002(e) and any other applicable laws; and 

5. Ordering all other appropriate relief. 
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Dated: August 10, 2011   Respectfully submitted, 

 

      _____________________ 

      Margie Sollinger (D.C. Bar No. 976308) 

Hope M. Babcock (D.C. Bar No. 14639) 

Institute for Public Representation 

      Georgetown University Law Center 

      600 New Jersey Avenue, NW, Suite 312 

      Washington, D.C. 20001 

      (202) 662-9535 

      mjs289@law.georgetown.edu 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

Anacostia Riverkeeper and  

Anacostia Watershed Society 
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